
Regular Meeting  
Monday, March 7, 2016 

Chowan County Public Safety Center 
305 West Freemason St. 

Edenton, NC  
6:00pm 

 
This meeting was recorded, a copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled March 7, 2016. 

 
Present: Chairman Jeff Smith, Commissioners Keith Nixon, Alex Kehayes, Emmett Winborne. 
 
Ellis Lawrence and John Mitchener (came in after call to order).  
 
Staff present: County Manager Kevin Howard, County Attorney Lauren Arizaga-Womble and 
Clerk Susanne Stallings. 
 
Commissioner Greg Bonner was absent. 
 
Chairman Smith called the meeting to order and led the pledge. 
 
Commissioner Nixon then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Agenda 
(Recording begins during this agenda item) 
 
Chairman Smith noted an addition of a discussion of the DF Walker two-story building. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener and Commissioner Lawrence joined the meeting. 
 
Mr. Howard recommended to move the retiree health insurance discussion. 
 
Commissioner Nixon moved to amend the agenda as recommended. Chairman Smith asked for 
all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0) 
 
Public Comment 
Chairman Smith then opened the floor to public comment. 

Bob Kirby 236 Whites Landing Road cited the general statutes that govern and define public 
records. He stated the last time minutes were posted on the County’s website were the November 
16th meeting. He stated the agenda that is provided to the public via email before a meeting is 
only two pages long. He stated that Perquimans County provides more information with the 
agenda packet to their constituents.  He stated the Board owes it to the residents to get the 
information out there and requested the Board does this. 

Chairman Smith asked for any further public comment, there was none. 

Consent Agenda 



a. Minutes 
Attached are the minutes of the February 1, 2016 and February 22, 2016 meetings for the 
Board’s review and consideration. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes noted a correction to the minutes of a grammatical error from and 
to an. He stated he would provide this to the Clerk. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener moved to adopt the minutes as amended by Commissioner 
Kehayes. Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 

b. Budget Amendment 
BA1516-015 

 
 
Mr. Howard reviewed the budget amendment noting this would allow the monies to be in one 
place to begin the salary study he completed. 
 
It was noted the raises will be retroactive to October 2015 regardless of the effective date for this 
fiscal year. 
 
Commissioner Winborne moved to accept the minutes as presented.  Chairman Smith asked for 
all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
 

Description Old + or (-) New
Building Permits 100,000.00     9,195.00         109,195.00     
ABC Surplus 30,000.00       95,000.00       125,000.00     
Transfer to DSS Fund 931,000.00     19,407.00       950,407.00     
Transfer to EMS Fund 491,877.06     31,750.00       523,627.06     
Salary Reserve 53,038.00       53,038.00       

-                 
Transfer From General Fund 931,000.00     19,407.00       950,407.00     
Salary Reserve -                 19,407.00       19,407.00       

-                 
Transfer From General Fund 491,877.06     31,750.00       523,627.06     
Salary Reserve -                 31,750.00       31,750.00       

-                 
C/O Equipment 214,000.00     (10,969.00)      203,031.00     
Salary Reserve -                 10,969.00       10,969.00       

-                 

Balanced:

Justification:
Move money to allow for implementation of merit pay increase

11-9800-980-12
11-9800-980-60

Account Code
11-3343-890-00

61-7120-991-00

11-8200-991-00

11-3837-310-00

12-5310-991-00

60-4370-991-00

61-7120-510-00

60-3980-980-11

12-3980-980-11



Resolution to Establish a Policy for Approval and Opening of Closed Session Minutes 
Ms. Womble presented the Board with a policy for the approval process for opening closed 
session minutes. She stated this would allow she and the Clerk to recommend minutes to be 
unsealed, they will be pulled and then presented to the Commissioners for unsealing. She noted 
the minutes will be kept in a separate binder as they are unsealed allowing the public access to 
both. 
 
Commissioner Winborne asked for clarification on the types of minutes to be unsealed. 
 
Ms. Womble provided examples such as Personnel matters that cannot be unsealed. She stated 
that some contract negotiations will be unsealed if the purpose for sealing the minutes is no longer 
necessary. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence asked about third parties who may object to the unsealing of contract 
negotiations. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that when any private business transacts business with a local government, 
they will be subject to the public records law. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener asked about whistleblower policies. 
 
Ms. Womble stated this would most likely fall under the personnel policy. She stated she would 
make sure the County is within all areas of the law. 
 
Commissioner Winborne moved to approve the policy resolution as presented. Chairman Smith 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 

RESOLUTION 
TO ESTABLISH POLICY FOR APPROVAL & OPENING 

OF CLOSED SESSION MINUTES 
 
 
WHEREAS, North Carolina Open Meetings Statute, G.S. 143-318.11 allows public bodies to meet 
in Closed Session for certain purposes; and  
 
WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statute 143-318.10 (e) requires a public body to keep a 
general account (hereinafter referred to as “minutes”) of all Closed Sessions so such that a person 
not in attendance would have a reasonable understanding of what transpired. Closed Session 
minutes may be a written narrative, or video or audio recordings. 
 
WHEREAS, Closed Session minutes prepared pursuant to North Carolina General Statute 143-
318.10 (e) are public records within the meaning of the Public Records Law in N.C.G.S § 132-1.  
 
WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statute 143-318.10 (e) provides minutes from Closed 
Sessions held in compliance with North Carolina General Statute G.S. 143-318.11 may be 
withheld from public inspection so long as public inspection would frustrate the purpose of a 



Closed Session. At such time as it is determined public inspection would no longer frustrate the 
purpose of the closed session the documents shall be made available.    
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Chowan County Board of Commissioners does 
hereby establish the following policy for approval and opening of Closed Session minutes:  
 
1) The Board shall approve the Closed Session minutes in Closed Session "to prevent the 

disclosure of information that is made privileged or confidential by G.S. §143-318.10(e)." 
Upon approval of Closed Session minutes, said minutes are deemed to be sealed until otherwise 
opened pursuant to the terms of this Resolution.  

 
2) The County Attorney and the Clerk to the Board are authorized and directed to review, on a 

quarterly basis, the Closed Session minutes to determine if their disclosure would no longer 
frustrate the purpose for which the Closed Session was held. Qualifying Closed Session 
minutes identified by the County Attorney and the Clerk to the Board shall be brought to the 
Board for unsealing.  

 
3) The Board authorizes the Clerk to store the opened Closed Session minutes in a separate minute 

book of the Chowan County Board of Commissioners titled “Unsealed Closed Session 
Minutes.” The Closed Session minutes the Board determines should remain permanently 
sealed shall be kept in a separate "Sealed Closed Session Minutes” File. The unsealed minutes 
or minutes the Board determined should remain permanently sealed shall reflect the date the 
Boards decision.   
 

4) Nothing in this Resolution shall be construed to require or authorize the Board to disclose 
any information that has been made or is otherwise confidential by law.  

 

This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption and shall apply both retroactively and 
prospectively. 
 

Courthouse Green Use Agreement 
Mr. Howard provided the Board with an agreement between Chowan County and North Carolina 
for use of the greens at the 1767 Courthouse. He stated this agreement protects both the County 
and the State in the event that someone is injured or if there is storm damage. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes discussed what agency schedules the property especially for wedding 
events.  He stated his concern with protection for activities that are scheduled. 
 
Ms. Womble stated this agreement will memorialize a policy that has been in place for several 
years. She stated an MOU was in place however the State preferred a lease.  
 
Commissioner Nixon noted there is a 60 day out for the lease. 
 
Mr. Howard noted this shifts liability. 
 



Commissioner Nixon stated he felt pleased that the State has acknowledged the County owns the 
green. 
 
The Board discussed the approval of lighting. Mr. Howard and Ms. Stallings noted the Town has 
to approve this also because it is located within the historic district. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener moved to approve the lease as presented. Chairman Smith asked for all 
in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). (A copy of the lease is in the meeting file labeled 
March 7, 2016 and in the building file labeled Courthouse Green). 
 
COA and Former DF Walker High School Building/Study Committee 
Vice Chairman Keith Nixon reported that he had concerns based on comments at the last 
Commissioner’s meeting regarding the County’s position and its support of the COA Edenton-
Chowan Campus and the future of the campus in Chowan County. He stated that at the direction 
of the Chairman he met with the President of COA, Dr. Kandi Deitemeyer, he also spoke with 
several COA Board members and he met with the Superintendent of Edenton Chowan Schools. 
He stated that he reported to COA that Chowan County Commissioners fully support the efforts 
of COA and that the County considers COA to be tremendous asset to the residents of Chowan 
County and COA is also considered an enhancement to the educational mission of Edenton 
Chowan Schools. He asked the Board to consider taking demolition off the table or temporarily 
suspend the committee. 
 
Commissioner Winborne stated that he appreciated the comments from Commissioner Nixon 
and the work he has done. He stated he serves as the Vice Chair of the study committee. He 
stated that there have been good discussions about the building since the matter was brought to 
the full Board. He stated that COA is an asset to this County He stated he hoped the groups 
involved with the study committee to continue thinking about uses for the building while the 
committee is suspended.  He stated there are many agencies and groups working together to find 
a solution.  
 
Commissioner Winborne made a motion to suspend the DF Walker Study Committee to give the 
Chairman, Vice Chairman and staff along with COA and Edenton Chowan Schools, the 
opportunity to find a solution for the former DF Walker High school Building to continue being 
an educational campus in Chowan County.  
 
Commissioner Lawrence stated he wanted COA to know how much the County appreciates 
COA being in Chowan County.  
 
Chairman Smith noted that COA is represented in the audience. 
 
Vice Chairman Nixon stated that the Board of Commissioners should continue to advocate for 
COA as Chowan County is fortunate to have its own campus. He stated that in comparison to the 
Currituck and Dare, who each have a satellite COA campus, Chowan County has limited revenue 
sources to fund capital needs at a community college. He stated he felt that an opportunity was 
missed several years ago when there was not enough public support for Golden Leaf Funds to 
enhance the Edenton Campus and bring additional programs.  



 
Vice Chairman Nixon stated that in addition to his meetings with COA the Chairman and 
Manager also met and they discussed trying to find additional avenues to maintain the two story 
building at the campus.  
Commissioner Mitchener stated the language “suspend” has a negative meaning for the 
community. He recommended the Board look into recessing the committee. He urged the Board 
to not use that word. 
 
Commissioner Winborne discussed his motion. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated that negotiations should take place between COA, Edenton-Chowan 
Schools and the County regarding the lease agreement.  
 
Commissioner Mitchener stated he would like clarification on the terms of the lease with COA. 
 
Chairman Smith noted the lease was a public record. The Board Clerk will forward the lease to 
Board members. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated that COA has been in the press over the past weeks and he felt that 
COA should not have to defend themselves. 
 
Ms. Stallings re-read the motion previously made by Commissioner Winborne: “move to 
suspend the DF Walker Study Committee to give the Chairman, Vice Chairman and staff the 
opportunity to meet with COA and Edenton Chowan Schools, the opportunity to find a solution 
for the former DF Walker High school Building to continue being an educational campus (in 
Chowan County).”  
 
 
Board members requested that the County Manager inform all parties of the Board’s action. 
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor of the motion, the motion passed (5-1 Mitchener). 

 
Grant Application Approval 
Shannon Ray representing the Recreation Department provided the Board with a request to apply 
for CAMA funds for Phase II at Pembroke Creek for the replacement of boards on the boardwalk. 
She stated the numbers changed some after submittal of the grant application. She stated that 740’ 
of old decking would be replaced. She stated the cost is $55,800 and a 10% cost match is 
required. She stated that $2,500 and then $5,000 in in-kind would be used for the match.  
 
Chairman Smith asked for clarification on the cash match. 
 
Ms. Ray stated she will need $2,500 for the cash match. 
 
Board members discussed what year the grant would be awarded. 
 
Mr. Howard stated the fund would not be put in until next fiscal year. 



 
Ms. Ray stated that the monies have to be appropriated prior to the application. 
 
Mr. Howard stated this would be budgeted next fiscal year. 
 
Commissioner Nixon moved to approve the grant pre-application and appropriate $2,500 from 
capital in next fiscal year (monies to come from the audit). 
 
Commissioner Kehayes asked what type of material would be used for the decking. 
 
Ms. Ray stated that it would be salt treated wood. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes asked about the permanent structure at the site. 
 
Ms. Ray stated the building is vented and passed the codes. She noted the building is set on a 
block foundation. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener stated his concern with the potential for flooding at the site. He stated 
that he experienced that flooding during Hurricane Isabel. He stated that Recreation Staff would 
need to look into evacuating the building in the event of a major hurricane or flood. 
 
Ms. Ray stated she would make sure this is included in the Recreation Departments storm 
preparation plans. 
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor of the motion, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
RECESS 
Chairman Smith declared a 5 minute recess. After 5 minutes he called the meeting back to order. 
 
(The recorder was accidently left off for the remainder of the meeting, there is no recording) 
 
Maintenance Truck Replacement 
Mr. Howard stated that the primary work truck in the Maintenance Department, the engine has 
blown up. He sated the previous truck was purchased new in 1999. HE stated all miles on the 
truck were local.  He stated he recommends that staff purchase a new truck for $21,052. He also 
provided a quote to purchase a used truck for $17,995 with less than 50,000 miles.  
 
Commissioner Kehayes asked for clarification on the warranty in the options that were provided 
by the manager. He stated it appears the new truck is worth the warranty over the used truck. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked where the monies would come from. 
 
Mr. Howard stated would use monies from Fund Balance and savings within the Maintenance 
Budget at the end of the year. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if the Manager looked at using the Water Department trucks. 



 
Mr. Howard stated that the truck in the Water Department was too large. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to allow the manager to purchase the new truck using monies 
from Fund Balance. 
 
The Board discussed the motion and the funds to be used. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to amend his previous motion to move to allow the manager to 
purchase the new truck using monies not to exceed $22,000. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if there are any lapsed salary monies. 
 
Mr. Howard stated no. 
 
Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Ms. Stallings asked for a vote to declare the previous truck surplus. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener moved to declare the previous Maintenance truck as surplus and 
authorize the Clerk to sell the vehicle on Gov Deals. Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
EMS Ambulance Replacement 
EMS Director Colin Ryan provided the Board with options for replacement an ambulance that 
was totaled. Option #1 was for a 2016 demo ambulance that is eligible for delivery within one 
week of the purchase he noted this was at a cost of $167,811. Option #2 was for a remounted 
2016 Ford at $108,975 with delivery in 150 days from purchase. Option #3 is a new 2016 
ambulance delivery within 150 days at a cost of $170,000. He noted there is a salvage value of 
$4,000. He stated that Option two would require he sell the box to the company and they give us a 
different box as the boxes cannot be switched due to the difference in the chassis.  
 
Chairman Smith asked if this is an even swap. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes discussed the box layout with regards to being the paramedic level.  
 
Mr. Ryan noted the ambulance purchase for the current fiscal year is still not ready. He stated that 
he has borrowed ambulances from other counties to make it this far.  
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if there is monies within the EMS budget for the purchase. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that the ambulance cannot be absorbed by the EMS budget alone.   
 
Mr. Ryan noted the County is paying $100 a day for rent. 
 



Commissioner Winborne asked if there are items missing from the demo unit of what Chowan 
prefers. 
 
Mr. Ryan stated there are items that will be included and added to help with insurance claims, 
such as the grill guard. 
 
Commissioner Winborne asked if Mr. Ryan would be comfortable with the demo ambulance. 
 
Mr. Ryan stated yes. He stated there are features on the unit that will make it safer and ride better 
also. 
 
Board members discussed selling the wrecked ambulance on Gov Deals, taking parts off of it for 
other vehicles or selling it to the insurance company. Ms. Stallings noted that if the County 
chooses to sell the ambulance on Gov Deals it would need to be declared surplus. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes moved to approve the purchase of the demo ambulance (Option 1) with 
insurance proceeds and pay for ½ this fiscal year and ½ next fiscal year. Chairman Smith asked 
for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Commissioner Winborne moved to purchase the wrecked ambulance from the insurance company 
for salvage parts. 
 
After discussion, Commissioner Winborne asked to rescind his motion, no further action was 
taken. 
 
External Board/Committee Report 

Chairman Smith asked the Board members to report on the activities of the external boards to 
which they have been appointed. 
 
Commissioner Nixon reported on the activities of the Health Department Board. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener reported on the activities of Destination Downtown Edenton. 
 
Manager’s Report 

County Manager Kevin Howard updated the Board on the following matters: 
 
- RPO to begin pilot mapping 
- Bids are in for the Shepard Building the low bid was $26,500, work will begin soon. 

 
Timely and Important Matters  
 
Chairman Smith noted that he attended and enjoyed the meeting at the 1767 Courthouse with 
Secretary Klutz. 
 
Chairman Smith asked how the Judge’s dog Jack was doing and asked that Staff note he asked 
about Jack. 



 
Ms. Stallings noted the Commissioners will be invited to attend a presentation on the Land Use 
Plan at the Planning Board meeting on March 22, 2016 at 7pm. 
 
Commissioner Winborne asked that Ms. Stallings schedule a Planning and Enterprise Committee 
meeting. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated there have recently been comments in the paper regarding teacher 
supplements and the school board may be asking for an increase in current expense monies. He 
asked that staff survey counties with populations 25,000 or less to know what the supplement is 
for classified and certified positions.  
 
Closed Session 
Commissioner Mitchener moved that the Board go into closed session, in accordance with NCGS 
143-318 (11) (a) (6) personnel. Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed 
unanimously (6-0). 
 
The minutes of the closed session are sealed 
 
Commissioner Mitchener moved to come out of closed session. Chairman Smith asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 

Transparency and Agenda 

Board members discussed the use of automated agenda software in the future and the minutes on 
the website. Ms. Stallings noted the minutes would be updated tomorrow to also include the 
minutes that were approved that same night. She will bring the Board more information on 
automated agenda software soon. 

Adjourn 

Commissioner Nixon moved to adjourn the meeting. Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed unanimously (6-0).  

 

 

_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 

Jeffery Smith, Chairman    Susanne Stallings, Clerk 


